MASARYK UNIVERSITY Faculty of Social Studies

*

Physical Activity and Menopausal Wellbeing

Habilitation Thesis

PL: 03

Mgr. Steriani Elavsky, Ph.D.

Brno 2016

Abstract

This habilitation thesis presents research on the role that physical activity plays in enhancing psychological wellbeing during the menopausal transition. The work presented is interdisciplinary, intersecting the fields of health psychology, psychology of physical activity, women's health, and adult development and aging, viewing behavior and the menopausal transition from a lifespan, developmental perspective. The number of women aged 40-60 has been increasing as a result of the aging trends in most Western societies. This period of life brings for women a transition from reproductive to nonreproductive status, which is accompanied by volatile changes in hormonal levels. Changing of the hormonal mileu consequently alters the health risk profiles of women, increasing their risk for cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, depression, or weight gain. The psychological disturbances that accompany the menopausal transition are often linked to the experience of bothersome menopausal symptoms, which has a negative impact on women's wellbeing and quality of life. Vasomotor symptoms, in particular, are experienced by the majority of women and often serve as an impetus for women seeking healthcare services at this stage of life. While sociodemographic factors, premenopausal health status, and psychosocial stress act as important determinants of wellbeing as women transition through menopause, lifestyle factors, namely physical activity, also play a vital role. Physical activity brings about numerous health benefits to the menopausal women but its effects on menopausal symptoms and wellbeing have been understudied. In this thesis, seven distinct published studies are presented to unveil how physical activity impacts menopausal symptoms and wellbeing (both long-term as well as acutely in the context of daily life), and to characterize individual differences in how women may benefit from physical activity in terms of symptom and wellbeing outcomes. A variety of methodologies were applied ranging from experimental, intensive longitudinal, ecological momentary assessment, and single case designs to demonstrate that (1) physical activity impacts psychological wellbeing and quality of life indirectly through its effects on more proximal outcomes such as affect; (2) menopausal symptoms can be impacted by physical activity but also have a direct influence on wellbeing; (3) vasomotor symptoms are not triggered by acute exercise in most healthy women but that low-fit women may perceive worsening of symptoms as a result of increased daily physical activity; (4) substantial between- as well as within-person variability exist in both daily physical activity and symptom reporting but enhancing perceived control, positive affect, and coping efficacy may help women cope with symptoms effectively, suggesting a need for intervention approaches that contain multiple components (cognitive, behavioral), are tailored to subgroups of women based on their personality, fitness profiles, and are dynamic, adopting to women's changing needs and being delivered in the moment when most needed.

Table of contents

Introduction	7
Defining menopause, menopausal health and well-being	7
Determinants of health and well-being across the MT	8
Socio-demographic factors	8
Premenopausal health	9
Menopausal symptoms.	9
Psychosocial stress.	9
Physical activity	10
The focus, innovation and significance of the present research	11
List of Original Publications	14
Author's contribution	15
Summary of Research Questions	16
Research aims of presented studies	16
Methods	17
Data sources	17
Study I	17
Study II	18
Study III	18
Study IV	
Study V	19
Study VI	19
Study VII	19
Study I: Physical Activity and Mental Health Outcomes During Menopause	20
Method	22
Participants	22
Measures	22
Procedure	24
Exercise intervention	25
Statistical analysis	26
Results	
Intervention effects relative to mental health outcomes	27

Discussion	29
Figure 1	33
Table 1	34
Table 2	35
Table 3	36
Table 4	38
References	39
Study II: Physical Activity, Menopause, and Quality of Life: The Role of Affect and Self Worth Across Time	f- 42
Method	44
Participants	44
Measures	44
Procedure	46
Statistical analysis	46
Results	47
Discussion	49
Figure 1	52
Table 1	53
Table 2	54
References	55
Study III: Personality, Menopausal Symptoms, and Physical Activity Outcomes in Midd	le-
Aged Women	58
Methods	60
Participants	60
Procedures	60
Measures	61
Data Analysis	62
Results	63
Discussion	64
Table 1	68
Reference	69
Study IV: Effects of Physical Activity on Vasomotor Symptoms: Examination Using Objective and Subjective Measures	71
Method	/ 1 72
	/ 4

Participants	
Study Design	
Measures	
Statistical analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Table 1	
Table 2	
Table 3	
Table 4	
References	
Study V: Daily Physical Activity and Menopausal Hot Flashe	s: Applying a Novel Within-
Person Approach to Demonstrate Individual Differences	
Methods	
Participants	
Measures	
Procedures	
Data Analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
Table 1	
Table 2	
Table 3	
Table 4	
References	
Study VI: Concurrent and Lagged Relations between Momen	tary Affect and Sedentary
Behavior in Middle-Aged Women	
Methods	
Participants and Procedures	
Measures	
Data Analysis	
Results	

Discussion	
References	
Study VII: Daily Physical Activity Enhances Resilient Re in Middle-Aged Women	sources for Symptom Management
Methods	
Participants and Procedures	
Measures	
Data Analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
Table 1	
Table 2	
Table 3	
Table 4	
Table 5	
Figure 2	
References	
General Discussion	
Future Directions	
References	

Introduction

Defining menopause, menopausal health and well-being

There are nearly one million women over age 50 living in the Czech Republic, representing one of the fastest growing segments of the population ¹. The United States, Europe, and populations worldwide are experiencing the same aging trends with more and more women reaching menopause each year ^{2,3}. Menopause refers to cessation of ovarian follicular activity and is manifest by the cessation of menstrual flow lasting at least 12 months. Perimenopause encompasses the time immediately before menopause (i.e., after menstrual cycles become irregular) and the first year after menopause, representing a transitional period when physiological, hormonal, and clinical changes commence, which lasts on average 3.5-4 years ⁴. The menopausal transition (MT) is defined as the time before the final menstrual period when variability in menstrual cycle is usually increased ⁵; however, the term is often used more broadly to denote the transition from reproductive to non-reproductive years of women's lives (also referred to as such throughout this thesis).

Although the MT is part of a normal aging process, the hormonal changes occurring at this stage of life alter the health-risk profile of women, increasing the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) ⁶, osteopenia and osteoporosis, contributing to weight gain and leading to increases in central adipose tissue ⁷, risk factors for diabetes. In menopause-related studies health outcomes are generally operationalized along three dimensions: (1) as self-rated or self-defined health; (2) as health status (often assessed as health history, some aggregate measure of different health indicators, or as health-related quality of life); and (3) in terms of specific health/disease end-points (e.g., cardiovascular risk factors). There are also more "acute" manifestations of the MT in the form of different types of symptoms which cluster into three factors: vasomotor, somatic, and psychological ⁸. However, only vasomotor symptoms, such as hot flashes and night sweats, and urogenital symptoms, such as vaginal dryness or atrophy, have been linked to the endocrinological changes occurring during menopause ⁴. To denote the more positive aspects of health as women transition through menopause the term menopause-related well-being has been used and is most typically operationalized as subjective or psychological well-being ⁹.

Determinants of health and well-being across the MT

Although some women appear to be more susceptible to the adverse outcomes of menopause ^{10,11}, the idea of a universal menopausal syndrome has been refuted ¹², with the majority of women viewing menopause as a neutral event in their lives ^{13,14}. Several longitudinal studies have identified important determinants of health and well-being across the MT (Health Women's Study ¹⁵; Massachusetts Women's Health Study ¹⁶; Melbourne Women's Health Project ¹⁷; Seattle Midlife Women's Health Study ¹⁸; Penn Ovarian aging Study ¹⁹; Women's Health Australia Study ²⁰; Study of Women's Health Across the Nation ²¹; with several larger studies focusing on postmenopausal and older women only, e.g., Women's Health Initiative), pointing at four inter-related primary factors contributing to health and well-being as women transition through menopause: premenopausal health, menopausal symptoms, psychosocial factors (mainly stress), and lifestyle factors (mainly physical activity) ^{22,23}.

To understand the impact of the MT on health and wellbeing of women, one must view the MT in a broader context with multidimensional causal influences, extending from distal social and built environmental factors to proximate, individual level factors ^{24,25}. A brief overview of the most relevant covariates of menopausal health and wellbeing follows.

Socio-demographic factors. Chronological age is associated with health status as is age at menopause ²⁶. Socio-demographic factors such as social class, marital status, parity, and race/ethnicity may impact menopausal health and well-being by modulating age at menopause or by influencing stress exposures, lifestyle behaviors linked to age at menopause or specific health outcomes. For example, lower level of education, single status, not being employed, and African-American ²⁷ and Latina ²⁸ race/ethnicity have been associated with earlier age at menopause ^{29,30}. Higher parity, especially in women of higher socio-economic status, prior use of contraceptives, and Japanese race/ethnicity have been linked to later menopause ^{30–32}. More African-American and Latina, but fewer Chinese and Japanese women also report vasomotor symptoms as compared to White women, and fewer women with postgraduate education report vasomotor symptoms ^{33,34}. Additionally, childless women express more negative attitudes toward menopause compared with parous women but are half as likely to report vasomotor symptoms ³⁵. Socio-economically disadvantaged women also display more negative health behaviors (e.g., smoking, alcohol consumption, body mass index, stress, diet, physical activity) ³⁶, all of which have been shown to impact age at menopause and/or health outcomes ^{37–39}. Socio-economic

status and race also contribute to health disparities more generally, resulting in uneven distribution of health ^{40,41}.

Premenopausal health. Premenopausal health is the most important predictor of any health outcome following the final menstrual period. In the Melbourne Women's Health Project, changes in self- rated health have been monitored across a 9-year period in middle-aged women progressing through the MT. In a longitudinal analysis, modeling simultaneously multiple influences on self-rated health and well- being, premenopausal self-rated health emerged as the most potent indicator of any other health and well-being outcome over time ²³. This finding is consistent with other reports suggesting that women with a history of physical or mental health problems are the most likely to have a distressful MT ⁴².

Menopausal symptoms. Among the most common symptoms reported by menopausal women are hot flashes, night sweats, irritability, moodiness, tension, anxiety, low self-esteem, and emotional instability⁴. However, the term "menopause management" is typically constrained to the management of vasomotor symptoms such as hot flashes and night sweats. These symptoms represent a heavy socioeconomic burden on society ⁴³ and they are the primary reason for middle-aged women visiting a physician ⁴⁴. Interestingly, women with menopausal complaints display lower bone mineral density ⁴⁵ and a less favorable cardiovascular risk profile ⁴⁶, including higher risk for hypercholesterolemia, hypertension ⁴⁷, and higher body mass index ⁴⁸, pointing to a possible overlap in etiology of both CVD and vasomotor symptoms ^{49,50} and suggesting a potential role of vasomotor symptoms as a sub-clinical marker of health. In the U.S., higher reporting of menopausal symptoms (vasomotor in particular) has been associated with late perimenopausal and early postmenopausal status, specific endocrine changes, African American race, lower educational attainment or socio-economic status, higher body mass index or body fatness, smoking, history of pre- menstrual complaints, stress, anxiety, depression, and sleep problems ^{34,50–54}. Recently, environmental context has been linked to menopausal symptom reporting but few systematic investigations of the role of context exist. The limited evidence available suggests that social networks, social support, and familial relationships influence how women deal with menopause ^{55,56}, and that women residing in rural environments may be experiencing a more distressful menopause and more frequent or severe vasomotor symptoms, even after controlling for health status and socio-economic factors ⁵⁷.

Psychosocial stress. The most consistent psychosocial predictor of health and well-being

during the MT is stress. Both acute (e.g., interpersonal relationships or daily hassles) and chronic stressors (e.g., history of child abuse or victimization) have been linked to adverse health outcomes, more menopausal symptoms, and poorer well-being in middle-aged women. There is a reciprocal relationship between stress and the MT as stress may exacerbate menopausal symptoms and menopausal experiences may, in turn, influence the perception, experience of, and coping with stressful life events ⁵⁸. Women who experience longer MT and increased symptoms have higher stress, and were found to be at increased risk for depression ⁵⁹. Menopause-related distress (i.e., experiencing symptoms) increases levels of inflammatory cytokines ^{60,61}, and psychosocial stress in general has been associated with the development of hypertension, metabolic syndrome, and faster progression of CVD ⁶². Interestingly, women in early perimenopause report the highest rate of psychological distress as compared to premenopausal and postmenopausal women⁶³, and postmenopausal women respond more intensely to stress than premenopausal women ^{64,65}. Perceived stress has been associated with subsequent dysphoric mood and recently also, stressors such as chronic or childhood stress, abuse, and victimization have been associated with increased reporting of vasomotor symptoms ^{58,66}. A recent observational study described longitudinal changes in the level of perceived stress in relation to MT and although stress levels tended to decline in postmenopause, factors such as employment, history of sexual abuse, depressed mood, and poor self-perceived health were associated with higher levels of stress. Improvement in role burden, social support, and income adequacy was associated with significantly lower perceived stress ⁶⁷.

Physical activity. Physical activity is a key lifestyle factor that can influence menopausal wellbeing and women across the menopausal spectrum can derive the numerous health benefits of physical activity ⁶⁸. Menopause has been associated with a decrease in energy expenditure and increase in total body fat and visceral adipose tissue ⁶⁹, and CVD risk factors, but maintaining or increasing participation in regular physical activity may prevent or attenuate any such increases in midlife women . In 2004, the North American Menopause Society (NAMS) recommended lifestyle changes such as regular physical activity as the first line of defense against the adverse consequences of menopause, including the management of mild to moderate menopausal hot flashes ⁷⁰, although the evidence from quality randomized control trials remains limited, leading NAMS to remove exercise as well as yoga from their list of proven hot flash treatments ⁷¹. Unfortunately, women who experience vasomotor symptoms spend less time on exercise per

week than do those who do not have hot flashes ⁷², and only approximately half of middle-aged women engage in any leisure-time physical activity on regular basis, with less than 25% meeting the public health recommendations of at least 30 minutes of accumulated moderate physical activity on most days of the week ⁷³. One 4-year prospective study documented that physical activity decreased significantly two years before menopause and remained low thereafter ⁶⁹, but other longitudinal studies reported relatively stable physical activity levels on average in middle-aged women across the menopausal stages ^{22,74}, albeit with a significant portion (>50%) of the women reporting insufficient or no regular activity. This is unfortunate given the numerous health benefits of physical activity. Cross-sectionally, physical activity has been associated with less nervousness and fewer menopausal symptoms ^{75–78}, enhanced mood, well-being ⁹, and quality of life ⁷⁹, but some experimental ^{80–82} and population-based prospective studies have provided inconsistent findings when it comes to the relationship of physical activity to vasomotor symptoms in particular ^{33,36,83,84}.

It has been proposed that one of the ways physical activity impacts health and well-being across the menopausal transition is by attenuating the adverse effects of stress on these outcomes. Physical activity has been associated with lower levels of stress generally ^{85,86} and during ovarian aging ⁸⁷. Other literature (animal and human) supports the role of physical activity in attenuating the adverse effects of stress on health ⁸⁸. For example, animal studies have supported the physiological effects of exercise on reducing stress through reductions in behavioral depression and immunosuppression brought about by different stressors ^{89,90}. In human studies, physical activity has been shown to impact health through different pathways depending on the outcomes under study. Physical activity may have a direct impact on health and well-being (i.e., regardless of stress levels) for example by improving cardiovascular and bone health ⁶⁸ or mood ²². It may however also affect health and well-being indirectly by either mediating ^{91,92} or moderating the stress-health relationship ^{93,94}.

The focus, innovation and significance of the present research

My program of research stems from my previous work involving studies examining the effects of physical activity on quality of life (QOL) during the aging process ^{75,95,96}. Although the menopausal transition is part of a normal aging process, the hormonal changes occurring at this stage of life alter the health-risk profile of women and bring about more "acute" manifestations

of the menopausal transition in the form of vasomotor symptoms such as hot flashes and night sweats. These are perceived as especially bothersome and disruptive and represent the primary reason for women seeking health care services at this stage of life. The menopausal transition may also be a source of psychological distress or instability and there is growing evidence that certain subgroups of women may be more vulnerable to such adverse outcomes than others. For example, overweight and obese women are more likely to experience vasomotor symptoms ⁵⁴ and consequently may be more vulnerable to experiencing sleep and other health problems. Symptomatic menopausal women in general are also more vulnerable to developing depressive symptoms or clinically defined depression and perimenopause has been identified as a period of transitional vulnerability for depression and other mental health problems ^{97,98}. Collectively, these adverse physical and mental health changes may negatively impact wellbeing as women transition through menopause.

Although physical activity may attenuate many of the adverse outcomes associated with menopause, including different types of symptoms, few studies have investigated the effects of physical activity on physical and mental health (and subsequent impact on QOL and wellbeing) during menopause. Existing studies have focused either solely on symptom reporting or physiological outcomes primarily in pre- and post-menopausal women and have generally confounded the neuroendocrine, fitness, body composition, and psychological effects of physical activity. Consequently, the psychological and physiological responses to physical activity have not been well characterized in peri-menopausal women, and little is known about how the psychological and physiological systems interact to impact health and wellbeing at this stage of life. Additionally, the majority of existing research has focused on between-group comparisons, providing little understanding of the sources of individual differences in the way women experience menopause and how they may respond to behavioral interventions including physical activity in terms of health and wellbeing endpoints. In this work, I take an interdisciplinary biopsychosocial approach to characterize the role of physical activity in enhancing wellbeing as women transition through menopause by illuminating the mechanisms of the physical activitywellbeing relationship and identifying relevant individual difference characteristics and other sources of variability in responses to physical activity among middle-aged women.

This work is timely and important given the increasing trend towards using complementary and alternative medicine strategies for menopause management ⁹⁹, and the fact

that menopause is viewed by many women as a time of life when preventive healthcare and health behavior changes are critical ¹⁰⁰. Additionally, there is a critical need for longitudinal and experimental studies with strong measurement and innovative designs, given the inherent methodological challenges in research on menopause-related outcomes which to date has been dominated by epidemiological approaches ¹⁰¹. Although such studies are useful in providing information about prevalence and incidence rates, trends, and trajectories, they are limited in their ability to unveil the processes that underlie the effects of various behavioral modalities on menopause-related outcomes. The majority of existing studies have typically relied on subjective and mostly retrospective assessments of vasomotor symptoms and physical activity (known to be subject to recall and social desirability biases), lacked detailed physiological and psychological assessments, and focused on between-person comparisons, ignoring intra-individual variability and within-subject associations among physical activity and wellbeing outcomes.

Recently, ecological momentary assessment methods (EMA) have been gaining popularity and have been advocated for the assessment of momentary psychological processes in the context of daily experiences ^{102,103}. Studies applying these methods conduct frequent "inreal-time" measurements and provide rich data for the study of patterns in intra-individual variability in outcomes of interest. The inclusion of objective measures and within-person replicated time-series design may also enhance our understanding of individual differences in physical activity behavior, menopausal symptoms, and wellbeing outcomes. For example, sternal skin-conductance monitoring is considered the gold standard in objective ambulatory assessment of hot flashes⁴. This technique has been shown to have high agreement (95-100%) with selfreport data in laboratory settings. However, substantial under-reporting rates (43-65%) have been found in ambulatory assessment studies. It is unclear what contributes to these discrepancies with possible explanations ranging from different symptom interpretations or perceptions (potentially driven by aspects of introspective personality), affective, contextual, or lifestyle influences. Adopting a within-person methodology along with EMA allows for the characterization of the patterns of subject responses over "time" while allowing for investigation of the effects of important covariates (non-time or time-varying) on these patterns. The ultimate goal of employing these novel methodological approaches is to form person-specific recommendations regarding avoidance of behaviors and contexts that trigger symptoms and developing effective coping strategies to minimize the impact of bothersome symptoms on normal daily functioning.

Findings from such studies also help inform the design of interventions by allowing for individualization of treatment options or program design, ultimately optimizing their effectiveness.

Consequently, this habilitation thesis presents work that could be characterized as interdisciplinary, and it terms of classification of study fileds, lies at the intersection of health psychology, psychology of physical activity, women's health, and adult development and aging. Research questions regarding psychosocial outcomes, symptom reporting and health behavior fall within psychology of health and physical activity. The study of physiological and psychosocial outcomes during reproductive transitions such as menopause also fall within the realm of women's health. Understanding and approaching menopause as a developmental, transitional period with important consequences for the aging process, also reflects a lifespan perspective, a cornerstone of adult development and aging fields ^{104,105}. Notwithstanding the interdisciplinary, biopschosocial nature of this work, standard (and novel) methodology from within general and developmental psychology form the basis of this research, thus, general or developmental psychology should be used as the interpretation framework of the whole thesis.

List of Original Publications

This habilitation thesis presents a series of original publications investigating the role that physical activity plays in enhancing menopausal wellbeing. The publications are ordered chronologically but the order is also consistent with the conceptual underpinnings of the studied theme, starting with the results of a large-scale randomized controlled trial that demonstrated individual differences in response to physical activity, followed by an examination of long-term effects of physical activity on quality of life in middle-aged women, and culminating in a series of studies aiming to unveil the individual characteristics and within-person variability in physical activity and menopause-outcomes using intensive longitudinal designs and EMA methodology. The presented studies do not represent the entire body of work on the subject, rather they have been selected to provide a meaningful glimpse into the topic and types of methodologies utilized in my work.

Study I

Elavsky, S., & McAuley, E. (2007). Physical activity and mental health outcomes during menopause: A Randomized controlled trial. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *33*(2), 132-142.

Study II

Elavsky, S. (2009). Physical activity, menopause, and quality of life: the role of affect and self-worth across time. *Menopause, 16*(2), 265-271.

Study III

Elavsky, S., McAuley, E. (2009). Personality, menopausal symptoms, and physical activity outcomes in middle-aged women. *Personality and Individual Differences, 46*(2), 123-128.

Study IV

Elavsky, S., Gonzales, J.U., Proctor, D.N., Williams, N.I., & Henderson, V.W. (2012). Effects of physical activity on vasomotor symptoms: Examination using objective and subjective measures. *Menopause*, *19*(10), 1095-1103.

Study V

Elavsky, S., Molenaar, P., Gold, C.H., Williams, N.I., Aronson, K.R. (2012). Daily physical activity and menopausal hot flashes: Applying a novel within-person approach to demonstrate individual differences. *Maturitas*, *71*(3):287-93.

Study VI

Elavsky, S., Kishida, M., & Mogle, J. (2016). Concurrent and lagged relations between momentary affect and sedentary behavior in middle-aged women. *Menopause*, 23(8), 919-923.

Study VII

Kishida, M., & Elavsky, S. (2015). Daily physical activity enhances resilient resources for symptom management in middle-aged women. *Health Psychology*, *34*(7), 456-64.

Author's contribution

Study I-VI: The author conceptualized, designed and directed the studies and data collection and processing, wrote 100% of the first drafts of the papers, collaborated on data analyses (studies IV-VI) and on paper revisions (studies I-VI).

Study VII: The author helped conceptualize the study and supervised the study design and conduct, wrote 10% of the first draft of the paper and collaborated on data analyses, paper

revisions. This study was conceptualized to fit thematically with other presented work but also represents an example of mentored doctoral research.

Summary of Research Questions

Research aims of presented studies

The overall theme of presented studies is to characterize how physical activity impacts wellbeing across the menopausal transition. In **Study I**, a large-scale randomized controlled trial (the second largest trial in existence at the time) was conducted to test the effects of physical activity on mental health, symptom, and wellbeing outcomes in middle-aged women. Community-dwelling women across the menopause spectrum were recruited for a study (LifePAO) comparing the effects of aerobic exercise (supervised walking program), yoga, and a control group. Additionally, differences in response to the interventions were probed to identify possible moderators of treatment response. In Study II, women previously enrolled in the LifePAQ study were followed two years after the trial end to evaluate the long-term effects of physical activity on QOL and the underlying mechanisms of these effects. In Study III, individual differences in menopausal symptom reporting were evaluated in the context of the LifePAQ trial to identify personality characteristics that explain these differences. As part of Study IV, a 15-day daily diary study with ecological momentary assessment (EMA) methods was conducted to examine the relationship between chronic (habitual) physical activity and acute exercise and vasomotor symptoms. This study utilized both subjective and objective measures of physical activity and vasomotor symptoms (the first study at the time to do so). Study V applied a novel approach, a single case longitudinal time-series analysis to demonstrate individual differences in the relationship between physical activity and menopausal symptom reporting. In this study within-person associations between physical activity and symptoms were analyzed over time across one menstrual cycle or a period of 30 days if postmenopausal. Study VI examined the role of inactivity (sedentary behavior) on affect in middle aged women. On data obtained from Study III, associations between inactivity and affect were analyzed at the momentary level to unveil both concurrent and lagged effects. Study VII used a 21-day daily diary design to evaluate the direct and indirect associations between physical activity and

menopausal symptoms and test mediational pathways involving sources of resilience such as positive affect and coping efficacy.

Methods

Data sources

A range of different methodological approaches were used to address the questions under study, all however involved quantitative data analyses. Study I was a 4-month randomized control trial (LifePAQ) with 3 (group) by 2 (time) design involving 164 community-dwelling middle-aged women. Study II was a 2-year prospective examination of participants enrolled in the LifePAQ study. Study III examined the contribution of personality characteristics to the reporting of menopausal symptoms in the context of the LifePAQ randomized controlled trial. Study IV was a 15-day daily diary study with ecological momentary assessment of 121 community-dwelling women reporting menopausal symptoms upon enrollment into the study. Additionally, the women completed an acute bout of aerobic exercise in the lab to investigate acute effects of exercise on the reporting of vasomotor symptoms which were assessed subjectively as well as objectively through sternal skin conductance monitoring. Study V used a novel single subject design with person-specific time series analyses to identify individual differences in the relationship between daily physical activity and symptom reporting in 24 middle-aged women followed intensively across an entire menstrual cycle or a 30-day period. Study VI used data from the 15-day daily diary study (Study IV) to examine how inactivity (sedentary behavior) influences momentary affect in middle-aged women. Study VII utilized a daily diary study design with 21 daily online assessments of 103 community-dwelling middleaged women to investigate sources of resiliency in the relationship between physical activity and menopausal symptoms. A brief overview of the specific methodologies and statistical approaches used in these studies follows.

Study I

This study investigated the effects of a 4-month randomized controlled exercise trial on mental health and wellbeing outcomes in 164 previously low-active middle-aged women (*M* age = 49.9; SD = 3.6). Participants completed body composition (DXA) and fitness assessment (VO2 max test) and a battery of psychological measures at the beginning and end of a 4-month

randomized controlled exercise trial with three arms: walking, yoga, control. A series of mixed model) repeated measures Univariate and Multivariate Analyses of Variance (ANOVAs and MANOVAs) and Covariance (ANCOVAs and MANCOVAs) were conducted to evaluate the effects of the intervention on outcomes of interest.

Study II

This study examined the long-term effects of physical activity on menopause-related quality of life (QOL) and tested the mediating effects of physical self-worth and positive affect in this relationship. Middle-aged women previously enrolled in a 4-month randomized controlled trial involving walking, yoga, and a control group completed a follow-up mail-in survey two years following the end of the trial. The survey included a battery of psychological and physical activity measures, including measures of menopausal symptoms and menopause-related quality of life. Longitudinal linear panel analysis was conducted within a covariance modeling framework to test whether physical self-worth and positive affect mediated the physical activity quality of life relationship over time.

Study III

This study examined the contribution of personality factors to the reporting of menopausal symptoms in the context of a 4-month randomized controlled exercise trial. Symptomatic middle-aged women (N = 164 M age = 49.9, SD = 3.6) completed measures of menopausal symptoms, personality, physical activity, fitness and body composition assessment at the beginning and end of a 4-month randomized controlled trial involving walking and yoga. **Study IV**

The purpose of this study was to assess the effects of acute aerobic exercise and daily PA on menopausal vasomotor symptoms. Community-dwelling midlife women (*N*=121; age range 40-60 years) not on hormone therapy were recruited for a 15-day daily diary study with ecological momentary assessment. Women completed psychological, cardiorespiratory fitness (VO2 max test), body composition (DXA), and hormonal status screening (urine and blood samples), followed by a 15-day prospective assessment in a "real-life" setting using a personal digital assistant device. Participants also completed a 30-minute moderate-intensity aerobic exercise bout on a treadmill between days 5-8. Daily PA was assessed objectively through accelerometry and all symptomatic women (n=92) completed two 24-hour Biolog sternal skin conductance recordings of hot flashes (HFs), one at baseline and one immediately following

treadmill exercise.

Study V

This study applied a longitudinal within-person design through a prospective daily diary study which applied experience sampling methods. Time series modeling techniques investigated, at the within-person level, the relationship between objectively measured daily physical activity of varying intensities and self-reported menopausal hot flashes (HFs) in 24 symptomatic middle-aged women (M age = 50.4; SD = 4.9). All women completed fitness, body composition and hormonal status screening, and reported on daily HFs using an electronic personal digital assistant (PDA) device across one menstrual cycle or for 30 days (if postmenopausal). Daily physical activity and physical activity intensity was measured using accelerometry and subjects completed a battery of psychological measures.

Study VI

The purpose of this study was to investigate the reciprocal relationship between sedentary behavior (SB) and momentary affect in the context of daily experiences in a sample of community-dwelling midlife women (N = 121; age range 40-60 years) recruited for a 15-day daily diary study. The women rated their positive and negative affect when prompted on a PDA device four times per day and wore an accelerometer for objective assessment of SB. Multilevel models were estimated to test concurrent and lagged associations between momentary estimates of SB and affect.

Study VII

The aim of this study was to evaluate the direct and indirect associations between physical activity and menopausal symptoms in 103 community-dwelling middle-aged women (age range 40-60 years) who completed daily Internet surveys at the end of the day and wore an accelerometer for the objective assessment of physical activity for 21-days. 1-1-1 multilevel meditational models were estimated to test whether resilient resources (i.e., positive affect and coping efficacy) mediated the association between physical activity and symptom burden at both the between- and within-person level.

General Discussion

My scholarship focuses on accumulating scientific evidence that a physically active lifestyle is central to successful and healthy aging, and that physical inactivity presents one of the most prominent public health challenges of our time. As a scholar I aim to engage in, and foster greater awareness of, physical activity research from the public health perspective, while investigating and integrating scientifically relevant issues to the concrete concerns of real people in terms they can make sense of and benefit from. The overarching long-term goal of my research is to understand how best to harness the power of physical activity to enhance health and wellbeing as we age. Specifically, I have made substantive contributions in three areas: (1) understanding the role that physical activity plays in improving quality of life (QOL) across populations (with a particular focus on the wellbeing of the menopausal woman); (2) integrating objective and subjective methods to study clinical issues; and (3) using within-person methodology to reveal the intra-individual dynamics of motivational processes linked to physical activity and its psychological consequences. The work is interdisciplinary in nature drawing on the knowledge framework across different fields including psychology of health and physical activity, women's health, and adult development and aging. The methods and theories applied however stem from mainstream psychology, resulting in largely psychological research with potential public health relevance.

Specifically, my work on wellbeing helped establish psychosocial influences such as selfefficacy, social support, affect, and self-worth as important determinants of physical activity behavior and as mediators of physical activity effects on quality of life in young, middleaged, and older populations. One of the main thrusts of my research focuses on women in midlife and menopause, as a transitional period with important implications for successful aging. Fourteen publications have specifically aimed to illuminate the mechanisms of physical activity effects on wellbeing in women as they transition through menopause.

These studies advanced the field by addressing notable shortcomings of previous research which relied on self-reported measures and failed to adequately account for between-person differences in physiological and psychological factors linked to menopausal symptom reporting. Specifically, these were the first studies to: (1) incorporate both objective and subjective measures of physical activity (accelerometry) AND vasomotor symptoms (sternal skin conductance); (2) carefully characterize fitness levels, body composition, hormonal status, and psychological profiles of women to take into account these important correlates of Parts of this research, also recognized by the biomedical menopause community (2011 New Investigator Award from the North American Menopause Society), are presented in this habilitation thesis. Across seven different studies, this thesis attempts to address some of the major issues in the study of physical activity behavior and its effects on mental health and psychological outcomes in women as they transition through menopause. This work also reflects a variety of different methodologies in an effort to address some of the shortcomings of previous research. As a matter of summarizing these findings and general discussion, I would like to emphasize several key themes or messages of this work.

potential influence of established (and unknown) individual difference variables.

1. The menopausal experience is idiosyncratic and individual differences exist in how women benefit from behavioral modalities such as physical activity during menopause.

Although from a public health perspective, one might desire to draw a simple message regarding health behaviors and their positive effects on health and wellbeing, that would also apply to populations broadly, the message regarding physical activity during menopause must be nuanced. From the standpoint of physical and mental health status, women can derive the same health benefits from physical activity as the population at large, nonetheless for menopause management, which is usually akin to management of symptoms, some women stand to benefit more than others. In Study I⁸¹, it was demonstrated that walking and yoga were effective in enhancing positive affect and menopause-related QOL and reducing negative affect. Nonetheless, the treatment response varied significantly based on changes in menopausal symptoms across the trial. Women who experienced decreases in menopausal symptoms across the trial benefited more from the interventions, experiencing more pronounced improvements in all positive mental health and QOL outcomes and greater reductions in negative mental health outcomes. Whether menopausal symptoms increased or decreased across the trial appeared to be determined in part by whether there were increases or decreases in cardiorespiratory fitness, suggesting that cardiorespiratory fitness may represent a factor modifiable by interventions.

In Study III ¹⁰⁶, additional individual difference variables were identified as contributors to the differential responses in menopausal symptoms. Specifically, after controlling for baseline values, psychological symptoms at the end of the 4-month trial were associated with

trait anxiety ($\beta = .47, p < .001$) and changes in fitness ($\beta = -.20, p < .01$); vasomotor symptoms with optimism ($\beta = -.18, p < .05$) and changes in fitness ($\beta = -.15, p = .053$); and sexual symptoms were associated with changes in fitness ($\beta = -.16, p < .05$). These findings support previous suggestions that aspects of personality play a role in the experience of menopausal symptoms ^{42,107}. This individual variability also predisposes women to benefit differently from physical activity, suggesting that personalized multimodal intervention strategies may be required to minimize the impact of bothersome symptoms in women.

Other research also indicates that different women experience different clusters of symptoms and that symptom experiences are dynamic and change over time, only further underscoring the need for personalized and adaptive interventions. For example, in the Seattle Midlife Women's Health Study, three latent classes representing broad categories of symptoms were identified: Class 1 with observations of low severity levels for all symptoms (e.g., vasomotor, psychological, somatic), class 2 with low-severity hot flashes and moderateseverity levels for all other symptom factors, and class 3 with high severity hot flashes with lower severity levels of all other symptom factors ¹⁰⁸. While profiling women from the late postmenopausal stage only, more specific profiles were also identified: group 1 experiencing low severity for all symptoms except for joint ache (65%); group 2 high severity for all symptoms except for hot flashes (13%); group 3 with high severity for hot flashes, joint ache, and awakening at night (12%); and group with high severity for problem concentrating and joint ache (10%)¹⁰⁹. Although symptom clusters changed somewhat across the different stages of the menopausal transition, they were best predicted by symptom clusters from a previous stage, suggesting some consistency in the types of symptoms women exhibit as they transitions from early perimenopause to late postmenopause ¹¹⁰. From a clinical translational perspective, identifying subgroups of women with different symptom clusters and personality dispositions that may make them more vulnerable would allow for tailoring of intervention approaches to maximize their effectiveness.

It should also be noted that different types and intensity of physical activity are likely to affect women differently and that individual differences exist in how women may respond to different physical activity modalities. In Study I ⁸¹, there were differences in the effects of walking versus yoga on different types of symptoms and mental health outcomes with walking having largely stronger effects than yoga. Although yoga impacted the sexual QOL domain more and had different pattern of impact on psychological outcomes such as self-esteem (shown in a separate study ¹¹¹). Study IV ¹¹² demonstrated that acute aerobic exercise may have different effects on vasomotor symptoms than habitual physical activity and that

personal characteristics such as fitness level moderate this relationship. Study V ¹¹³ delineated in greater detail the person specific effects of daily physical activity of different intensities, pointing to affect and perceived control as factors modifying this relationship. Consequently, when it comes to optimizing management of menopausal symptoms, physical activity recommendations should be tailored and combined with other behavioral and cognitive strategies for most effective symptom management.

2. Physical activity enhances wellbeing and quality of life during menopause, both directly and indirectly through its effects on more proximal outcomes such as affect, self-worth, or coping resources.

Study II ¹¹⁴ tested whether physical activity enhanced menopause-related quality of life (QOL) across a 2-year period in middle-aged women previously enrolled in a 4-month randomized trial involving walking and yoga. There was an indirect relationship between physical activity and QOL such that increases in physical activity and decreases in menopausal symptoms over the 2-year period were related to increases in physical self-worth (β s = .23 and -.52) and for symptoms also to decreased positive affect (β = -.47), and both physical self-worth (β = .34) and affect (β = .43) directly influenced enhancements in QOL (\mathbb{R}^2 = .775). The findings support the position that physical activity effects on QOL are in part mediated by intermediate psychological outcomes and that physical activity can have long-term benefits for women undergoing the menopausal transition.

From a theoretical perspective, influences on wellbeing/QOL could be divided into two general categories of top-down and bottom-up influences ¹¹⁵. Top-down influences can be seen as time-invariant or slow-changing phenomena such as individual difference characteristics (demographics, personality factors, or health status). Bottom-up influences can be viewed as different contextual or process variables that change over time and in shorter timescales such as daily affect, symptoms or stress. Data from the studies presented here support the position that physical activity can operate both as a top-down and bottom-up influence on wellbeing/QOL in menopausal women whereby changes in physical activity have been linked to changes in menopause-related QOL over time, albeit indirectly. The more immediate effects of daily physical activity on outcomes such as symptoms, affect, and coping resources (in Studies IV-VII ^{112,113,116,117}) at the daily and momentary levels would support effects of physical activity on important bottom-up influences on wellbeing of menopausal women. In other words, one would expect fluctuations in physical activity (i.e., deviations from usual activity) to be reflected in changes in different physical, self-related, and cognitive functional outcomes which are likely to impact domain-specific or global wellbeing/QOL. The strength of the effects would then be expected to be greater at the level of the intermediate (more proximal) outcomes than the more distal outcomes such as life satisfaction, just as shown in my other work ^{96,118,119} and in Study II ¹¹⁴. To maximize the impact of physical activity on QOL/wellbeing, interventions should thus target activities that are personally meaningful and that demonstrate measureable improvements in proximal outcomes such as affect, self-efficacy and self-worth, enhancing sense of personal control, competency and enjoyment.

3. Physical activity effects on menopausal symptoms, vasomotor in particular, warrant further study, but acute exercise is unlikely to exacerbate hot flashes in most healthy women.

There has been controversy regarding the role that physical activity plays with respect to vasomotor symptoms such as hot flashes and night sweats. This controversy stems from inconsistent and generally low quality research. Cross-sectional studies typically report positive effects of physical activity on vasomotor symptoms and QOL ^{72,77,78}, while prospective studies provide contradictory results ^{33,36,120}. Only few randomized controlled trials evaluating physical activity effects on symptoms and QOL during menopause exist, and these have provided inconsistent results and are often underpowered ^{121–123}. Aiello et al. ⁸⁰ reported an increase in vasomotor symptoms in some women following a 12-month moderate intensity exercise program and at least one study suggests that lifetime exercisers may report more frequent or severe vasomotor symptoms during menopause ¹²⁴. Hot flashes are believed to be caused by altered neurotransmitter release in the hypothalamus leading to altered regulation of the thermoregulatory centre¹²⁵ and are triggered by small elevations in core body temperature acting within a reduced thermoneutral zone (mainly due to a lowering of the core body temperature threshold for sweating). It has been suggested that exercise may acutely exacerbate or trigger hot flashes by increasing core body temperature ^{126,127}. A recent Cochrane review of studies on the topic have failed to find sufficient evidence for physical activity alleviating vasomotor symptoms ¹²⁸ and the North American Menopause Society has recently removed exercise from their list of recommended treatements for lack of evidence ⁷¹.

In Study IV ¹¹² both objective and subjective methods of assessment were applied to study the effects of acute exercise and habitual physical activity on vasomotor symptoms.

144

The results have shown that a single bout of acute exercise does not increase *objectively* or *subjectively* assessed hot flashes (contrary to a pre-existing view, from a single study ¹²⁶, that has influenced clinical recommendations for menopausal women), but that at the within-person level, increasing levels of moderate-intensity physical activity performed on a daily basis may be associated with increased reporting of vasomotor symptoms, particularly in women with low levels of cardiorespiratory fitness. Previously inactive low-fit women may thus be at risk of perceiving their symptoms as intensifying when first initiating behavior changes. For these women, increasing physical activity levels gradually is essential along with other (behavioral, cognitive) strategies to help ease symptom burden. These results along with demonstrated person-specific effects in Study V ¹¹³ may help explain why demonstrating consistent effects of physical activity is difficult.

Clearly, more quality research is needed to further investigate the mechanisms of the relationship between physical activity and vasomotor symptoms. Especially needed are sufficiently powered randomized controlled trials as well as experimental studies to shed light on the causal mechanisms involved in hot flashes, and also to increase our understanding of when, why, and for whom there is a relationship between physical activity and vasomotor symptoms ¹²⁹. Along with these efforts, there should be a greater acknowledgement of the other effects regular physical activity may have on psychological outcomes that may help build resiliency in the face of bothersome symptoms. The work of my doctoral student in Study VII¹¹⁷ has demonstrated that daily physical activity generates positive affect and coping efficacy which may help women cope better with symptoms. Specifically, using daily diary data from 21 days of reporting, multi-level mediational analyses demonstrated that on days when a woman engaged in more physical activity than was typical for her, she also reported more positive affect and higher coping efficacy both of which were assocated with lower symptom burden. Importantly, these effects were non-significant at the betweenperson level suggesting one way in which physical activity may help a woman to cope with her symptoms is through the enhancement of positive affect and coping efficacy in the context of daily experiences.

Finally, it should be noted that not all physical activity is created equal and that different modalities may exert different effects. A recent review of mind-body intervention studies indicated that different intervention approaches (which included physical activity and yoga) impact different types of symptoms differentially. For example, physical activity was found to reduce hot flashes and mood symptoms (though results were mixed), whereas relaxation therapy with mindfulness-based stress reduction training was shown to reduce sleep and

mood symptoms, and yoga to reduce hot flashes and improve cognitive, sleep, and pain symptoms ¹³⁰. In Study I ⁸¹, we also observed effects of differenct magnitude by exercise modality on different types of symptoms. From a clinical translational perspective this means that women with different symptom clusters would be expected to benefit differentially from different interventions, highlighting a need for multi-component approaches that could be tailored to subgoups of women with specific characteristics. Nonetheless, regardless of vasomotor symptoms, given the well-demonstrated physical and mental health benefits of physical activity, sustained physical activity participation through young adulthood into midlife will remain key to optimizing health through the menopausal transition.

4. The use of within-person methodologies can meaningfully contribute to increasing our understanding of physical activity behavior and its effects on wellbeing outcomes.

The use of within-person methodologies in my work has provided additional meaningful insights into individual differences in responses to physical activity in middle-aged women as well as into the within-person dynamics in motivation linked to physical activity participation and wellbeing outcomes in younger populations of adolescents and emerging adults (six manuscripts to date). These studies have demonstrated that daily physical activity is regulated by both automatic and controlled motivational processes and that it influences QOL at the within-person level.

There are great individual differences in the way women experience menopause but little is known about what underlies this variation. In Studies IV-VII ^{112,113,116,117} intensive longitudinal designs were employed to unveil the dynamics of the physical activity – symptom relationship at the within-person levels. Study V ¹¹³ specifically applied a person-specific time series model to best describe the dynamic patterns underlying each individual time series. Within-person analysis identified significant relations between physical activity (PA) and hot flashes (HFs) in 50% of subjects, although the specific PA indicators that predicted HFs varied, both in terms of direction and magnitude. Perceived control over HFs was the variable that most consistently differentiated between women for whom more PA was associated with fewer HFs as compared to those for whom more PA was associated with more HFs, but other individual difference characteristics such as affect, depressive symptoms, and anxiety were identified. In recent years, this methodology as well as analytical approaches accomodating this methodology have gone through substantial

development, allowing for sophisticated sub-group analyses of commonalities between elements of sets of subject-specific state-space models, potentially helping to identify distinct subtypes of symptom and physical activity experiences (e.g., for women with personality profiles indicative of increased somatization or by residential/occupational status). Ultimately, such analyses can be done dynamically in real time through data collected in real life settings on an ongoing basis (e.g., through smartphones or wearable sensors). The promise of combining technology with understanding of individual and contextual factors that contribute to health behaviors and health outcomes lies in the possibility of designing effective "just-in-time" or ecological momentary interventions (EMIs) ¹³¹ that could help individuals cope "in the moment" with acute symptoms or aid in behavior change.

5. Inactivity and sedentary behavior deserve attention as intervention targets for optimizing wellbeing during menopause along with the exploration of complementary intervention modalities involving cognitive restructuring, mindfulness or other contemplative practices.

The results of Study VI¹¹⁶ demonstrated detrimental effects of inactivity on affect. Specifically, using EMA data across 15 days, in models that controlled for day of week, number of hot flashes, and total minutes of accelerometer wear time, greater concurrent positive affect was associated with fewer minutes spent being sedentary ($\beta = -.31$, p < .01). Neither lagged positive nor negative affect predicted later SB, however, more sedentary minutes predicted lower positive affect at the next occasion ($\beta = -.04$, p < .01). Affective experiences may also predict future engagement in physical activity (as per hedonic theory of motivaion)¹³², pathway which may place sedentary women into a vicious cycle of low positive affect reinforcing inactivity. Additionally, as shown in Study VII¹¹⁷, positive affect may serve as an important psychological resource when coping with symptoms during menopause and is also related to QOL (Study II)^{95,114}. Menopause has also been identified as a window of vulnerability to psychological disturbances including negative mood, depressive symptoms, or even increased risk of first-time onset depression ⁹⁷, all of which have been linked to more severe menopausal symptoms. Women leading sedentary lifestyles (also linked to obesity which is another risk factor for menopausal symptoms) may thus be particularly at risk for a problematic menopausal transition. Future intervention efforts should thus focus on reducing or interrupting sedentary behavior to lessen the detrimental effects sedentary behavior appears to have on positive affect, along with efforts to promote physical activity as key to enhancing wellbeing during menopause and successful aging beyond.

Any intervention efforts to modify behavior should be accompanied by intervention strategies for the management of menopausal symptoms, if symptomatic. These strategies may be particularly important for women with high trait anxiety and neuroticism. Cognitive behavioral therapy has been shown effective for the treatment of menopausal symptoms including vasomotor symptoms such as hot flashes and night sweats ^{133,134} and could be easily incorporated into physical activity programs or with the use of technology ¹³⁵. Similarly promising for symptom management (as well as behavior change) have been mindfulness-based practices such as meditation or yoga ^{71,136}.

Future Directions

The findings presented in this thesis provide valueable, novel insights into the dynamics of physical activity and wellbeing relationship in menopausal women, relevant to the fields of health psychology, psychology of physical activity, women's health, adult development and aging. Most of what is known about the physical activity and menopausal wellbeing relationship stems from studies that have examined between-person differences in physical activity and wellbeing outcomes (e.g., epidemiological studies), whereby a woman's typical (average) level of physical activity is associated with typical (average) levels of wellbeing (or symptoms). This approach is limited and may not be appropriate as betweenperson variation does not always reflect individual-level process^{137,138}. Investigating intraindividual variability in outcomes of interest, such as through the application of intensive longitudinal designs and EMA methodologies, offers important insights into intraindividual variability in outcomes over time and can also reveal psychological processes at play. Across seven studies (four of which have utilized such methods), the idiosyncratic nature of physical activity effects on menopausal wellbeing has been demonstrated, along with noteable individual difference characteristics and plausible casual pathways for how physical activity could be used or targeted to enhance wellbeing as women transition through menopause.

From a theoretical standpoint, the findings complement other work in the health and physical activity psychology fields on the nature of intraindividual variability in psychosocial outcomes and physical activity behavior. Intensive longitudinal designs and EMA methods have exploded in recent years especially in the areas of affective outcomes, symptom reporting, or cognitive functioning^{139–141}. Not only have these investigations helped characterize individual differences in how affect, symptoms, or cognition change over time or

in response to interventions, but they have highlighted the importance that context and the person-by-context interactions play in determining health and wellbeing outcomes. In spite of using EMA methods in studies presented here, the design (with random daily assessments) did not lend itself ideally to more thorough investigation of the role that context plays in the (in)activity-wellbeing relationship. Event- or context-congintent signals (as opposed to random or symptom triggered) should be incorporated in future EMA studies to better evaluate the role of context. Future work should also utilize EMA-derived data to test suppositions of existing theories, most of which have been tested using between-person approaches only. For example, the transactional theory of stress and coping views coping as a process best studied in the moment and as it unfolds over time and across differing situations^{142,143}. By applying EMA methods one can accomplish assessment of within-subject factors and the intraindividual variability in experiences and behaviors as they unfold in reallife settings and over time, allowing for testing of casual pathways hypothesizing the links between behaviors, coping, and stress. Similarly, the suppositions of theories of health behavior such as the social cognitive theory or theory of planned behavior could be tested in a more rigorous fashion applying intensive data methods. That is, one could test in a dynamic fashion whether changes in cognitions (e.g., self-efficacy, intentions) drive changes in behaviors and whether the underlying processes operate as hypothesized by these theories. Such testing could lead to refinement of exising theories and their greater practical utility¹⁴⁴.

From a developmental, lifespan perspective it will be important to conduct longitudinal studies that could accomodate investigations of both short-term and long-term (between- and within-person) variability in outcomes such as measurement burst designs¹⁴⁵. Acknowledging that development (and aging) is the result of multiple co-acting influences which are sensitive to context and thus inherently person-specific¹³⁸, person-oriented theories and single-subject designs should be incorporated into the study of menopause and wellbeing. In social psychology and behaviroal science more broadly, there is also an increasing awareness of the need to consider systems level approaches such as dynamical systems theories given that behavior and behavior change is nonlinear and involves interaction of multiple levels of influences across different timescales¹⁴⁶. These trends are partially fueled by advancement in behavior tracking technologies that allow for passive, continuous, and intensive data capture. Approaches utilizing such data will require application of advanced statistical methods that span subject-specific data analysis methods, mixture modeling, multilevel structural equation modeling, or time-varying effect models. From a practical standpoint, the research presented suggests that "one size fits all" types of interventions will not be the most effective for enhancing wellbeing during the menopausal transition, especially in women who experience a range of menopausal symptoms. Given that 85% of women will experience symptoms at some point during their menopausal transition⁷⁰, intervention strategies that are tailored to the needs of different women are called for. These strategies should also include multiple components to maximize both fitness effects and symptom management. Any such intervention should be based on a good understanding of the factors involved in symptom experiences, the casual pathways linking physical activity behavior, symptoms and wellbeing, as well as the context within which it is to be applied. To this end, future research must incorporate methods of intensive monitoring in everyday life to accurately evaluate symptoms experiences across different contexts and over time, and to allow for intervening in the moment, in the best way possible, and at the right time.

References

- 1. EU Population and Housing. Census. https://ec.europa.eu/CensusHub2. Published 2011. Accessed September 20, 2016.
- US Census Bureau. Age and sex composition: 2010. http://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-03.pdf. Published 2011. Accessed September 20, 2016.
- US Census Bureau. No Title. International Data Base. http://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-03.pdf. Accessed September 20, 2016.
- Consensus NIH, Statements S. NIH State-of-the-Science Conference Statement on management of menopause-related symptoms. *NIH Consens State Sci Statements*. 2005;22(1):1-38. doi:2005-00025-STMT [pii].
- 5. Burger HG, Hale GE, Dennerstein L, Robertson DM. Cycle and hormone changes during perimenopause: the key role of ovarian function. *Menopause*. 2008;15(4 Pt 1):603-612. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e318174ea4d.
- 6. Atsma F, Bartelink M-LEL, Grobbee DE, van der Schouw YT. Postmenopausal status and early menopause as independent risk factors for cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. *Menopause*. 2006;13(2):265-279. doi:10.1097/01.gme.0000218683.97338.ea.
- Beaufrère B, Morio B. Fat and protein redistribution with aging: metabolic considerations. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2000;54 Suppl 3:S48-53. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11041075. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- B. Greene JG. Constructing a standard climacteric scale. *Maturitas*. 1998;29(1):25-31. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9643514. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 9. Dennerstein L. Well-being, symptoms and the menopausal transition. *Maturitas*. 1995;23(2):147-157.
- 10. Schilling C, Gallicchio L, Miller SR, Langenberg P, Zacur H, Flaws JA. Relation of body mass and sex steroid hormone levels to hot flushes in a sample of mid-life women. *Climacteric*. 2007;10(1):27-37. doi:10.1080/13697130601164755.
- Whiteman MK, Staropoli CA, Langenberg PW, McCarter RJ, Kjerulff KH, Flaws JA. Smoking, body mass, and hot flashes in midlife women. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2003;101(2):264-272. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12576249. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 12. Avis NE, Brockwell S, Colvin A. A universal menopausal syndrome? In: *American Journal of Medicine*. Vol 118. ; 2005:37-46. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.09.057.
- McKinlay SM, Brambilla DJ, Posner JG. The normal menopause transition. *Maturitas*. 1992;14(2):103-115. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1565019. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 14. McKinlay SM, Brambilla DJ, Posner JG. "Reprint of" The normal menopause transition. *Maturitas*. 2008;61(1-2):4-16. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2008.09.005.
- Matthews KA, Meilahn E, Kuller LH, Kelsey SF, Caggiula AW, Wing RR. Menopause and risk factors for coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med.* 1989;321(10):641-646. doi:10.1056/NEJM198909073211004.
- Avis NE, McKinlay SM. The Massachusetts Women's Health Study: An epidemiologic investication of the menopause. *J Am Med Womens Assoc*. 1995;45(2):45-49, 63. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7722206. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- Dennerstein L, Smith AM, Morse C, et al. Menopausal symptoms in Australian women. *Med J Aust.* 1993;159(4):232-236. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8412889. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- Mitchell ES, Woods NF. Symptom experiences of midlife women: observations from

the Seattle Midlife Women's Health Study. *Maturitas*. 1996;25(1):1-10. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8887303. Accessed September 21, 2016.

- Grisso JA, Freeman EW, Maurin E, Garcia-Espana B, Berlin JA. Racial differences in menopause information and the experience of hot flashes. *J Gen Intern Med*. 1999;14(2):98-103. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10051780. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 20. Brown WJ, Bryson L, Byles JE, et al. Women's Health Australia: recruitment for a national longitudinal cohort study. *Women Health*. 1998;28(1):23-40. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10022055. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- Sowers MF, Crawford S, Sternfeld B, et al. SWAN: A Multicenter, Multiethnic, Community-Based Cohort Study of Women and the Menopausal Transition. *Women's Heal Res Fac Publ.* 2000. http://escholarship.umassmed.edu/wfc_pp/505. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 22. Netz Y, Zach S, Taffe JR, Guthrie J, Dennerstein L. Habitual physical activity is a meaningful predictor of well-being in mid-life women: a longitudinal analysis. *Climacteric*. 2008;11(4):337-344. doi:10.1080/13697130802239083.
- 23. Dennerstein L, Lehert P, Guthrie JR, Burger HG. Modeling women's health during the menopausal transition: a longitudinal analysis. *Menopause*. 2007;14(1):53-62. doi:10.1097/01.gme.0000229574.67376.ba.
- 24. Glass TA, McAtee MJ. Behavioral science at the crossroads in public health: extending horizons, envisioning the future. *Soc Sci Med.* 2006;62(7):1650-1671. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.08.044.
- 25. Sorensen G, Emmons K, Hunt MK, et al. Model for incorporating social context in health behavior interventions: applications for cancer prevention for working-class, multiethnic populations. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2003;37(3):188-197. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12914824. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- Verhoeven MO, van der Mooren MJ, Teerlink T, Verheijen RHM, Scheffer PG, Kenemans P. The influence of physiological and surgical menopause on coronary heart disease risk markers. *Menopause*. 2009;16(1):37-49. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e31817c42d6.
- Bromberger JT, Matthews KA, Kuller LH, Wing RR, Meilahn EN, Plantinga P. Prospective study of the determinants of age at menopause. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1997;145(2):124-133. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9006309. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 28. Henderson KD, Bernstein L, Henderson B, Kolonel L, Pike MC. Predictors of the timing of natural menopause in the Multiethnic Cohort Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2008;167(11):1287-1294. doi:10.1093/aje/kwn046.
- 29. Luoto R, Kaprio J, Uutela A. Age at natural menopause and sociodemographic status in Finland. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1994;139(1):64-76. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8296776. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- Stanford JL, Hartge P, Brinton LA, Hoover RN, Brookmeyer R. Factors influencing the age at natural menopause. *J Chronic Dis.* 1987;40(11):995-1002. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3654908. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 31. Dratva J, Gómez Real F, Schindler C, et al. Is age at menopause increasing across Europe? Results on age at menopause and determinants from two population-based studies. *Menopause*. 2008;16(2):385-394. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e31818aefef.
- 32. Gold EB, Bromberger J, Crawford S, et al. Factors associated with age at natural menopause in a multiethnic sample of midlife women. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2001;153(9):865-874. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11323317. Accessed September 21, 2016.

- 33. Gold EB, Block G, Crawford S, et al. Lifestyle and demographic factors in relation to vasomotor symptoms: baseline results from the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2004;159(12):1189-1199. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh168.
- 34. Gold EB, Colvin A, Avis N, et al. Longitudinal analysis of the association between vasomotor symptoms and race/ethnicity across the menopausal transition: study of women's health across the nation. *Am J Public Health*. 2006;96(7):1226-1235. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.066936.
- 35. Hess R, Olshansky E, Ness R, et al. Pregnancy and birth history influence women's experience of menopause. *Menopause*. 2008;15(3):435-441. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e3181598301.
- Gold EB, Sternfeld B, Kelsey JL, et al. Relation of demographic and lifestyle factors to symptoms in a multi-racial/ethnic population of women 40-55 years of age. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2000;152(5):463-473. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10981461. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 37. Avis NE, Assmann SF, Kravitz HM, Ganz PA, Ory M. Quality of life in diverse groups of midlife women: Assessing the influence of menopause, health status and psychosocial and demographic factors. *Qual Life Res.* 2004;13(5):933-946. doi:10.1023/B:QURE.0000025582.91310.9f.
- 38. Avis NE, Ory M, Matthews KA, Schocken M, Bromberger J, Colvin A. Health-related quality of life in a multiethnic sample of middle-aged women: Study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN). *Med Care*. 2003;41(11):1262-1276. doi:10.1097/01.MLR.0000093479.39115.AF.
- 39. Mishra GD, Brown WJ, Dobson AJ. Physical and mental health: changes during menopause transition. *Qual Life Res.* 2003;12(4):405-412. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12797713. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 40. Adler NE, Newman K. Socioeconomic disparities in health: Pathways and policies. *Health Aff.* 2002;21(2):60-76. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.21.2.60.
- 41. Williams DR, Jackson PB. Social sources of racial disparities in health. *Health Aff.* 2005;24(2):325-334. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.24.2.325.
- 42. Kuh D, Hardy R, Rodgers B, Wadsworth MEJ. Lifetime risk factors for women's psychological distress in midlife. *Soc Sci Med*. 2002;55(11):1957-1973. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12406464. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 43. Utian WH. Psychosocial and socioeconomic burden of vasomotor symptoms in menopause: a comprehensive review. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2005;3:47. doi:10.1186/1477-7525-3-47.
- 44. Gallop. The 2002 Gallop study of consumers' and physicians' changing HRT concerns. Qualitative Phase I and II. 2002.
- 45. Gast G-CM, Grobbee DE, Pop VJM, et al. Vasomotor symptoms are associated with a lower bone mineral density. *Menopause*. 2009;16(2):231-238. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e318185e25b.
- 46. van der Schouw YT, Grobbee DE. Menopausal complaints, oestrogens, and heart disease risk: an explanation for discrepant findings on the benefits of post-menopausal hormone therapy. *Eur Heart J.* 2005;26(14):1358-1361. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehi297.
- 47. Gerber LM, Sievert LL, Warren K, Pickering TG, Schwartz JE. Hot flashes are associated with increased ambulatory systolic blood pressure. *Menopause*. 2007;14(2):308-315. doi:10.1097/01.gme.0000236938.74195.c6.
- 48. Gast G-CM, Grobbee DE, Pop VJM, et al. Menopausal complaints are associated with cardiovascular risk factors. *Hypertens (Dallas, Tex 1979)*. 2008;51(6):1492-1498. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.106526.
- 49. Gast G-CM, Pop VJM, Samsioe GN, et al. Vasomotor menopausal symptoms are

associated with increased risk of coronary heart disease. *Menopause*. 2011;18(2):146-151. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e3181f464fb.

- 50. Thurston RC, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Everson-Rose SA, Hess R, Matthews KA. Hot flashes and subclinical cardiovascular disease: findings from the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2008;118(12):1234-1240. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.776823.
- 51. Dennerstein L, Lehert P, Guthrie J. The effects of the menopausal transition and biopsychosocial factors on well-being. *Arch Womens Ment Health*. 2002;5(1):15-22. doi:10.1007/s007370200018.
- 52. Freeman EW, Sammel MD, Lin H, et al. Symptoms associated with menopausal transition and reproductive hormones in midlife women. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2007;110(2 Pt 1):230-240. doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000270153.59102.40.
- 53. Thurston RC, Blumenthal JA, Babyak MA, Sherwood A. Emotional antecedents of hot flashes during daily life. *Psychosom Med.* 2005;67(1):137-146. doi:10.1097/01.psy.0000149255.04806.07.
- 54. Thurston RC, Sowers MR, Chang Y, et al. Adiposity and reporting of vasomotor symptoms among midlife women: the study of women's health across the nation. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2008;167(1):78-85. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm244.
- 55. Ballard, K., Kuh, D. and Wadsworth MEJ. The Role of the Menopause in Women's Experiences of the "Change of Life." *Sociol Heal Illn.* 2001;23(4):397-424.
- 56. Winterich JA, Umberson D. How women experience menopause: the importance of social context. *J Women Aging*. 1999;11(4):57-73. doi:10.1300/J074v11n04_05.
- 57. Bernis C, Reher DS. Environmental contexts of menopause in Spain: comparative results from recent research. *Menopause*. 2007;14(4):777-787. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e31803020ff.
- 58. Alexander JL, Dennerstein L, Woods NF, et al. Role of stressful life events and menopausal stage in wellbeing and health. *Expert Rev Neurother*. 2007;7(11 Suppl):S93-113. doi:10.1586/14737175.7.11s.S93.
- 59. Avis NE, Brambilla D, McKinlay SM, Vass K. A longitudinal analysis of the association between menopause and depression Results from the Massachusetts women's health study. *Ann Epidemiol*. 1994;4(3):214-220. doi:10.1016/1047-2797(94)90099-X.
- 60. Yasui T, Maegawa M, Tomita J, et al. Changes in serum cytokine concentrations during the menopausal transition. *Maturitas*. 2007;56(4):396-403. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2006.11.002.
- 61. Yasui T, Maegawa M, Tomita J, et al. Association of serum cytokine concentrations with psychological symptoms in midlife women. *J Reprod Immunol*. 2007;75(1):56-62. doi:10.1016/j.jri.2007.02.004.
- 62. Wang H-X, Leineweber C, Kirkeeide R, et al. Psychosocial stress and atherosclerosis: family and work stress accelerate progression of coronary disease in women. The Stockholm Female Coronary Angiography Study. *J Intern Med.* 2007;261(3):245-254. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2006.01759.x.
- 63. Bromberger JT, Meyer PM, Kravitz HM, et al. Psychologic distress and natural menopause: a multiethnic community study. *Am J Public Health*. 2001;91(9):1435-1442. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11527777. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- Owens JF, Stoney CM, Matthews KA. Menopausal status influences ambulatory blood pressure levels and blood pressure changes during mental stress. *Circulation*. 1993;88(6):2794-2802. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8252693. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 65. Seeman TE, Singer B, Wilkinson CW, McEwen B. Gender differences in age-related

changes in HPA axis reactivity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2001;26(3):225-240. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11166486. Accessed September 21, 2016.

- 66. Thurston RC, Bromberger J, Chang Y, et al. Childhood abuse or neglect is associated with increased vasomotor symptom reporting among midlife women. *Menopause*. 2008;15(1):16-22. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e31805fea75.
- 67. Woods NF, Mitchell ES, Percival DB, Smith-DiJulio K. Is the menopausal transition stressful? Observations of perceived stress from the Seattle Midlife Women's Health Study. *Menopause*. 2009;16(1):90-97. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e31817ed261.
- 68. Asikainen T-M, Kukkonen-Harjula K, Miilunpalo S. Exercise for health for early postmenopausal women: A systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *Sport Med.* 2004;34(11):753-778. doi:10.2165/00007256-200434110-00004.
- 69. Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, de Jonge L, Xie H, Smith SR. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2008;32(6):949-958. doi:10.1038/ijo.2008.25.
- Clarkson TB, Freedman RR, Fughberman AJ, Loprinzi CL, Reame NK, Society NAM. Treatment of menopause-associated vasomotor symptoms: position statement of the North American Menopause Society. *Menopause*. 2004;11(1):11-33. doi:10.1097/01.GME.0000108177.85442.71.
- 71. Menopause TNA. Nonhormonal management of menopause-associated vasomotor symptoms: 2015 position statement of The North American Menopause Society. *Menopause*. 2015;22(11):1155-72-4. doi:10.1097/GME.00000000000546.
- 72. Hammar M, Berg G, Lindgren R. Does physical exercise influence the frequency of postmenopausal hot flushes? *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. 1990;69(5):409-412. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2270766. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- McTiernan A, Stanford JL, Daling JR, Voigt LF. Prevalence and correlates of recreational physical activity in women aged 50-64 years. *Menopause*. 1998;5(2):95-101. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9689203. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 74. Wolin KY, Glynn RJ, Colditz GA, Lee I-M, Kawachi I. Long-term physical activity patterns and health-related quality of life in U.S. women. *Am J Prev Med*. 2007;32(6):490-499. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2007.02.014.
- 75. Elavsky S, McAuley E. Physical activity, symptoms, esteem, and life satisfaction during menopause. *Maturitas*. 2005;52(3-4):374-385.
- 76. Mats Hammar, Elizabeth Nedstrand, Yvonne Wyon, Elizabeth Nedstrand MN. The effects of physical activity on menopausal symptoms and metabolic changes around menopause. *Menopause*. 1995;2(4):201-209.
- 77. Ivarsson T, Spetz AC, Hammar M. Physical exercise and vasomotor symptoms in postmenopausal women. *Maturitas*. 1998;29(2):139-146. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9651903. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 78. Wilbur, J., Dan, A., Hedricks, C., and Holm K. The relationship among menopausal status, menopausal symptoms, and physical activity in midlife women. *Fam Community Heal.* 1990;13(3):67-78.
- 79. Dennerstein L, Dudley EC, Hopper JL, Guthrie JR, Burger HG. A prospective population-based study of menopausal symptoms. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2000;96(3):351-358. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10960625. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- Aiello EJ, Yasui Y, Tworoger SS, et al. Effect of a yearlong, moderate-intensity exercise intervention on the occurrence and severity of menopause symptoms in postmenopausal women. *Menopause*. 2004;11(4):382-388. doi:10.1097/01.GME.0000113932.56832.27.
- 81. Elavsky S, McAuley E. Physical activity and mental health outcomes during menopause: a randomized controlled trial. *Ann Behav Med.* 2007;33(2):132-142.

doi:10.1080/08836610701307983.

- Wilbur J, Miller AM, McDevitt J, Wang E, Miller J. Menopausal status, moderateintensity walking, and symptoms in midlife women. *Res Theory Nurs Pract*. 2005;19(2):163-180. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16025696. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 83. Sternfeld B, Quesenberry CPJ, Husson G. Habitual physical activity and menopausal symptoms: a case-control study. *J Womens Health*. 1999;8(1):115-123. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10094089. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 84. Whitcomb BW, Whiteman MK, Langenberg P, Flaws JA, Romani WA. Physical activity and risk of hot flashes among women in midlife. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. 2007;16(1):124-133. doi:10.1089/jwh.2006.0046.
- 85. Sarbadhikari SN, Saha AK. Moderate exercise and chronic stress produce counteractive effects on different areas of the brain by acting through various neurotransmitter receptor subtypes: a hypothesis. *Theor Biol Med Model*. 2006;3:33. doi:10.1186/1742-4682-3-33.
- 86. Tsatsoulis A, Fountoulakis S. The protective role of exercise on stress system dysregulation and comorbidities. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2006;1083:196-213. doi:10.1196/annals.1367.020.
- 87. Nelson DB, Sammel MD, Freeman EW, Lin H, Gracia CR, Schmitz KH. Effect of physical activity on menopausal symptoms among urban women. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2008;40(1):50-58. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e318159d1e4.
- 88. Salmon P. Effects of physical execise on anxiety, depression, and sensitivity to stress: A unifying theory. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2000;21(1):33-61.
- 89. Campisi J, Leem TH, Greenwood BN, et al. Habitual physical activity facilitates stress-induced HSP72 induction in brain, peripheral, and immune tissues. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*. 2003;284(2):R520-30. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00513.2002.
- 90. Moraska A, Fleshner M. Voluntary physical activity prevents stress-induced behavioral depression and anti-KLH antibody suppression. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*. 2001;281(2):R484-9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11448851. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 91. Iwasaki Y, Zuzanek J, Mannell RC. The effects of physically active leisure on stresshealth relationships. *Can J Public Heal*. 2001;92(3):214-218. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11496634. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 92. Iwasaki Y. Counteracting stress through leisure coping: a prospective health study. *Psychol Health Med.* 2006;11(2):209-220. doi:10.1080/13548500500155941.
- Brown JD. Staying fit and staying well: physical fitness as a moderator of life stress. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1991;60(4):555-561.
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2037967. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- Carmack CL, Boudreaux E, Amaral-Melendez M, Brantley PJ, de Moor C. Aerobic fitness and leisure physical activity as moderators of the stress-illness relation. *Ann Behav Med.* 1999;21(3):251-257. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10626033. Accessed September 21, 2016.
- 95. McAuley E, Elavsky S, Jerome GJ, Konopack JF, Marquez DX. Physical activityrelated well-being in older adults: social cognitive influences. *Psychol Aging*. 2005;20(2):295-302. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.20.2.295.
- 96. Elavsky S, McAuley E, Motl RW, et al. Physical activity enhances long-term quality of life in older adults: efficacy, esteem, and affective influences. *Ann Behav Med*. 2005;30(2):138-145. doi:10.1207/s15324796abm3002_6.
- 97. Freeman EW. Associations of depression with the transition to menopause. *Menopause*. 2010;17(4):823-827. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e3181db9f8b.

- 98. Maki PM, Freeman EW, Greendale GA, et al. Summary of the National Institute on Aging-sponsored conference on depressive symptoms and cognitive complaints in the menopausal transition. *Menopause*. 2010;17(4):815-822. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e3181d763d2.
- Brett KM, Keenan NL. Complementary and alternative medicine use among midlife women for reasons including menopause in the United States: 2002. *Menopause*. 2007;14(2):300-307. doi:10.1097/01.gme.0000232031.84788.57.
- 100. Speroff L. A signal for the future. In: *Treatment of the Postmenopausal Woman*. New York: Raven Press; 1994:1-8.
- Crawford S. Methodology and challenges in the study of menopause. In: Lobo R, Kelsey J, Marcus R, eds. *Menopause: Biology and Pathophysiology*. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 2000:159-174.
- 102. Stone A, Shiffman S, Atienza A, Nebeling L. *The Science of Real-Time Data Capture: Self-Reports in Health Research*. New York: Oxford University Press; 2007.
- 103. Trull TJ, Ebner-Priemer UW. Using experience sampling methods/ecological momentary assessment (ESM/EMA) in clinical assessment and clinical research: introduction to the special section. *Psychol Assess*. 2009;21(4):457-462. doi:10.1037/a0017653.
- Reese HW, Overton WF. Models of development and theories of development. *Lifesp Dev Psychol Res Theory*. 1970;31(1):115-145. doi:10.1146/annurev.ps.31.020180.000433.
- 105. Baltes PB. Theoretical propositions of life-span developmental psychology: On the dynamics between growth and decline. *Dev Psychol*. 1987;23(5):611-626. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.23.5.611.
- 106. Elavsky S, McAuley E. Personality, menopausal symptoms, and physical activity outcomes in middle-aged women. *Pers Individ Dif.* 2009;46(2):123-128.
- Bosworth HB, Bastian LA, Kuchibhatla MN, et al. Depressive symptoms, menopausal status, and climacteric symptoms in women at midlife. *Psychosom Med.* 2001;63(4):603-608. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11485114. Accessed September 27, 2016.
- 108. Cray LA, Woods NF, Herting JR, Mitchell ES. Symptom clusters during the late reproductive stage through the early postmenopause: observations from the Seattle Midlife Women's Health Study. *Menopause*. 2012;19(8):864-869. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e31824790a6.
- 109. Cray L, Woods NF, Mitchell ES. Symptom clusters during the late menopausal transition stage: observations from the Seattle Midlife Women's Health Study. *Menopause*. 2010;17(5):972-977. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e3181dd1f95.
- 110. Cray LA, Woods NF, Mitchell ES. Identifying symptom clusters during the menopausal transition: observations from the Seattle Midlife Women's Health Study. *Climacteric*. 2013;16(5):539-549. doi:10.3109/13697137.2012.746657.
- 111. Elavsky S, McAuley E. Exercise and self-esteem in menopausal women: A randomized controlled trial involving walking and yoga. In: *American Journal of Health Promotion*. Vol 22. ; 2007:83-92.
- 112. Elavsky S, Gonzales JU, Proctor DN, Williams N, Henderson VW. Effects of physical activity on vasomotor symptoms: examination using objective and subjective measures. *Menopause*. 2012;19(10):1095-1103. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e31824f8fb8.
- 113. Elavsky S, Molenaar PCM, Gold CH, Williams NI, Aronson KR. Daily physical activity and menopausal hot flashes: applying a novel within-person approach to demonstrate individual differences. *Maturitas*. 2012;71(3):287-293. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.12.011.

- 114. Elavsky S. Physical activity, menopause, and quality of life: the role of affect and self-worth across time. *Menopause*. 2009;16(2):265-271.
- 115. Diener E. Subjective Well-Being. Psychol Bull. 1984;95(3):542-575.
- Elavsky S, Kishida M, Mogle JA. Concurrent and lagged relations between momentary affect and sedentary behavior in middle-aged women. *Menopause*. 2016;23(8):919-923. doi:10.1097/GME.00000000000645.
- 117. Kishida MM, Elavsky S. Daily physical activity enhances resilient resources for symptom management in middle-aged women. *Health Psychol*. 2015;34(7):756-764. doi:10.1037/hea0000190.
- 118. Elavsky S, McAuley E. Role of physical activity in older adults' quality of life. In: Ekkekakis P, ed. *The Routledge Handbook of Physical Activity and Mental Health*. Routledge; 2013:493-504.
- 119. Kishida M, Elavsky S. A Daily process approach to depict satisfaction with life during the menopausal transition: Physical (in)activity, symptoms, and neuroticism. *J Happiness Stud.* 2016. doi:DOI: 10.1007/s10902-016-9743-z.
- 120. Sternfeld B, Guthrie KA, Ensrud KE, et al. Efficacy of exercise for menopausal symptoms: a randomized controlled trial. *Menopause*. 2014;21(4):330-338. doi:10.1097/GME.0b013e31829e4089.
- Ueda M. A 12-week structured education and exercise program improved climacteric symptoms in middle-aged women. *J Physiol Anthropol Appl Human Sci*. 2004;23(5):143-148. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15472458. Accessed September 27, 2016.
- 122. Teoman N, Ozcan A, Acar B. The effect of exercise on physical fitness and quality of life in postmenopausal women. *Maturitas*. 2004;47(1):71-77. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14706768. Accessed September 27, 2016.
- 123. Lindh-Astrand L, Nedstrand E, Wyon Y, Hammar M. Vasomotor symptoms and quality of life in previously sedentary postmenopausal women randomised to physical activity or estrogen therapy. *Maturitas*. 2004;48(2):97-105. doi:10.1016/S0378-5122(03)00187-7.
- 124. Romani WA, Gallicchio L, Flaws JA. The association between physical activity and hot flash severity, frequency, and duration in mid-life women. *Am J Hum Biol.* 2009;21(1):127-129. doi:10.1002/ajhb.20834.
- 125. Stearns V, Ullmer L, López JF, Smith Y, Isaacs C, Hayes D. Hot flushes. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2002;360(9348):1851-1861. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12480376. Accessed September 27, 2016.
- 126. Freedman RR, Krell W. Reduced thermoregulatory null zone in postmenopausal women with hot flashes. PubMed NCBI. *Am J Obs Gynecol*. 1999;181(1):66-70. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10411797.
- 127. Freedman RR. Hot flashes revisited. *Menopause*. 2000;7(1):3-4. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10646697. Accessed September 27, 2016.
- 128. Daley A, Stokes-Lampard H, Thomas A, MacArthur C. Exercise for vasomotor menopausal symptoms. *Cochrane database Syst Rev.* 2014;(11):CD006108. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD006108.pub4.
- 129. McAndrew LM, Napolitano MA, Albrecht A, Farrell NC, Marcus BH, Whiteley JA. When, why and for whom there is a relationship between physical activity and menopause symptoms. *Maturitas*. 2009;64(2):119-125. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2009.08.009.
- 130. Woods NF, Mitchell ES, Schnall JG, et al. Effects of mind-body therapies on symptom clusters during the menopausal transition. *Climacteric*. 2014;17(1):10-22. doi:10.3109/13697137.2013.828198.

- Heron KE, Smyth JM. Ecological momentary interventions: incorporating mobile technology into psychosocial and health behaviour treatments. *Br J Health Psychol*. 2010;15(Pt 1):1-39. doi:10.1348/135910709X466063.
- 132. Rhodes RE, Kates A. Can the Affective Response to Exercise Predict Future Motives and Physical Activity Behavior? A Systematic Review of Published Evidence. *Ann Behav Med.* 2015;49(5):715-731. doi:10.1007/s12160-015-9704-5.
- 133. Mann E, Smith MJ, Hellier J, et al. Cognitive behavioural treatment for women who have menopausal symptoms after breast cancer treatment (MENOS 1): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2012;13(3):309-318. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70364-3.
- 134. Norton S, Chilcot J, Hunter MS. Cognitive-behavior therapy for menopausal symptoms (hot flushes and night sweats): moderators and mediators of treatment effects. *Menopause*. 2014;21(6):574-578. doi:10.1097/GME.00000000000095.
- 135. Buntrock C, Ebert D, Lehr D, et al. Effectiveness of a web-based cognitive behavioural intervention for subthreshold depression: pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *Psychother Psychosom*. 2015;84(6):348-358. doi:10.1159/000438673.
- 136. Green SM, Key BL, McCabe RE. Cognitive-behavioral, behavioral, and mindfulnessbased therapies for menopausal depression: a review. *Maturitas*. 2015;80(1):37-47. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.10.004.
- 137. Molenaar PCM. The relationship between the structure of interindividual and intraindividual variability. In: Molenaar P, Huizenga H, Nesselroade J, eds. *Understanding Human Development: Dialogues With Lifespan Psychology*. New York: Springer; 2003:339-360.
- 138. Molenaar PC. On the relation between person-oriented and subject specific approaches. *J Pers Res.* 2015;1(1-2):34-41.
- Cain AE, Depp CA, Jeste D V. Ecological momentary assessment in aging research: a critical review. *J Psychiatr Res.* 2009;43(11):987-996. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2009.01.014.
- Marszalek J, Morgulec-Adamowicz N, Rutkowska I, Kosmol A. Using ecological momentary assessment to evaluate current physical activity. *Biomed Res Int.* 2014;2014:915172. doi:10.1155/2014/915172.
- 141. Runyan JD, Steinke EG. Virtues, ecological momentary assessment/intervention and smartphone technology. *Front Psychol*. 2015;6:481. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00481.
- 142. Lazarus R, Folkman S. *Stress, Appraisal, and Coping.* Springer Publishing Company; 1984.
- 143. Tennen H, Affleck G, Armeli S, Carney MA. A daily process approach to coping: Linking theory, research, and practice. *Am Psychol*. 2000;55(6):626-636. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.55.6.626.
- 144. Rothman AJ. "Is there nothing more practical than a good theory?": Why innovations and advances in health behavior change will arise if interventions are used to test and refine theory. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2004;1(1):11. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-1-11.
- 145. Sliwinski MJ. Measurement-Burst Designs for Social Health Research. *Soc Personal Psychol Compass*. 2008;2(1):245-261. doi:10.1111/j.1751-9004.2007.00043.x.
- 146. Vallacher RR (Ed), Nowak A (Ed). *Dynamical Systems in Social Psychology*. Academic Press; 1994.